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      “Gayford deftly charts how the differences in temperament quickly became divisive, and his narrative shifts subtly from art
         history to psychological thriller.”
      

      —MICHAEL PRODGER, TELEGRAPH ON SUNDAY

	  

      FROM OCTOBER TO DECEMBER OF 1888, Paul Gauguin shared a yellow house in the south of France with Vincent van Gogh. Never before
         or since have two such towering artists occupied so small a space. They were the Odd Couple of art history—one calm, the other
         volatile—and the denouement of their living arrangement was explosive. Two months after Gauguin arrived in Provence, Van Gogh
         suffered a psychological crisis that culminated in his cutting off part of an ear. He was institutionalized for most of the
         rest of his short life and never saw Gauguin again.
      

      During the brief, exhilarating period they worked together in Arles, these not-yet-famous artists created a stream of masterpieces
         within the shared studio—including Van Gogh’s Sunflowers, which decorated Gauguin’s bedroom wall. Making use of new evidence and Van Gogh’s voluminous correspondence, Martin Gayford
         describes not only how these two hallowed artists painted and exchanged ideas, but also the texture of their everyday lives.
         He tells us what they cooked and how they budgeted their meager finances and entertained themselves, and he movingly relates
         their inner fears and dreams. Gayford also makes a persuasive analysis of Van Gogh’s mental illness—the probable bipolar affliction
         that led him to commit suicide at the age of thirty-seven. The Yellow House is a singular biographical work, as dramatic and vibrant as the artists’ pictures.
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      MARTIN GAYFORD was educated at Cambridge University and the Courtauld Institute of the University of London. He is the coeditor
         of The Grove Book of Art Writing. Currently chief art critic for Bloomberg Europe, Gayford lives in Cambridge, England, with his wife and two children.
      

      [image: art]

      [image: art]

   
      
         ALSO BY MARTIN GAYFORD
      

      The Grove Book of Art Writing

      (with Karen Wright, eds.)

   
      Copyright

      
         Copyright © 2006 by Martin Gayford
      

      All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reproduced in any form or by any electronic or mechanical means, including
         information storage and retrieval systems, without permission in writing from the publisher, except by a reviewer who may
         quote brief passages in a review.
      

      Little, Brown and Company

      Hachette Book Group

      237 Park Avenue

      New York, NY 10017

      Visit our website at 
         www.HachetteBookGroup.com
      

      
         www.twitter.com/littlebrown
      

      First eBook Edition: October 2009

      ISBN: 978-0-316-08720-9

      
   
      
         To Josephine

   
      Contents

      ALSO BY MARTIN GAYFORD

      Copyright

      Illustrations

       

      1. The Arrival

      2. Beginning and Carrying On

      3. Lessons among the Tombs

      4. Collaboration

      5. Perilous Memories

      6. Divisions

      7. Musicians in Color

      8. Painting a Family

      9. Portrait of the Artist

      10. Looking at Art

      11. The Crisis

      12. Aftermath

       

      Notes on Sources

      Selected Bibliography

      Picture Credits

      Acknowledgments

   
      
            Illustrations

      Unless otherwise stated, works are by Van Gogh.

      p. 
         4 Gauguin, Self-Portrait “Les Misérables”—Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
      

      p. 
         6 Self-Portrait dedicated to Paul Gauguin—Fogg Art Museum, Harvard
      

      p. 
         15 Sunflowers—National Gallery, London
      

      p. 
         17 Sketch of Still Life with Coffeepot—Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
      

      p. 
         18 The Yellow House—Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
      

      p. 
         20 Night Café—Yale University Art Gallery, New Haven
      

      p. 
         30 Sketch of the Sower and the Old Yew Tree in letter 558b—Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
      

      p. 
         32 Photograph of Theo—Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
      

      p. 
         35 Gauguin, Vision of the Sermon—National Galleries of Scotland
      

      p. 
         55 Photograph of Gauguin—Musée Gauguin, Papeari, Tahiti
      

      p. 
         60 Gauguin, Les Alyscamps—Musée d’Orsay, Paris
      

      p. 
         64 Allée des Tombeaux (Les Alyscamps)—Private Collection
      

      p. 
         73 Falling Leaves—Private Collection
      

      p. 
         74 Falling Leaves—Kröller-Müller Museum, Otterlo
      

      p. 
         85 Gauguin, Drawing of Madame Ginoux—Fine Arts Museums of San Francisco
      

      p. 
         88 L’Arlésienne—Musée d’Orsay, Paris
      

      p. 
         101 Red Vineyard—Pushkin Museum, Moscow
      

      p. 
         104 Gauguin, Human Miseries—Ordrupgaard, Copenhagen
      

      p. 
         112 Gauguin, Night Café—Pushkin Museum, Moscow
      

      p. 
         116 Brothel Scene—The Barnes Foundation, Merion, Pennsylvania
      

      
         p. 
         124 A Memory of the Garden, letter sketch—Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
      

      p. 
         130 Gauguin, In the Heat—Private Collection
      

      p. 
         139 Reader, letter sketch—Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
      

      p. 
         144 Spectators at the Arena—Hermitage, St. Petersburg
      

      p. 
         148 Gauguin, Washerwomen—Museo de Bellas Artes, Bilbao
      

      p. 
         150 Photograph of Gauguin in studio—Musée Gauguin, Papeari, Tahiti
      

      p. 
         160 Van Gogh’s Chair—National Gallery, London
      

      p. 
         163 Gauguin’s Chair—Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
      

      p. 
         176 Drawing: Reclining Nude, 1887—Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
      

      p. 
         180 Road with Cypress and Star, letter sketch—Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
      

      p. 
         185 Drawing: the Sower (June)—Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
      

      p. 
         186: The Sower, letter sketch—Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
      

      p. 
         192 Gauguin, drawings of Police Commissioner from Arles Sketchbook—The Israel Museum, Jerusalem
      

      p. 
         197 Gauguin, Madame Roulin—Saint Louis Art Museum
      

      p. 
         198 Madame Roulin—Collection Oskar Reinhardt, Winterthur, Switzerland
      

      p. 
         201 Drawing of Roulin—Los Angeles County Museum, Los Angeles
      

      p. 
         205 Madame Roulin with Her Baby Marcelle—Philadelphia Museum of Art, Philadelphia
      

      p. 
         209 Gauguin, drawings of Menagerie from Arles Sketchbook—The Israel Museum, Jerusalem
      

      p. 
         213 Armand Roulin—Museum Folkwang, Essen
      

      p. 
         214 Camille Roulin—Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
      

      p. 
         216 Photographs: Armand, Camille, Augustine and Marcelle Roulin—Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
      

      p. 
         219 Sorrow, lithograph—Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
      

      p. 
         224 The Dance Hall—Musée d’Orsay, Paris
      

      p. 
         225 Gauguin, Arlésiennes—The Art Institute of Chicago
      

      p. 
         227 Portrait of a Man—Kröller-Müller Museum, Otterlo
      

      p. 
         227 Gauguin, Portrait of a Man—Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
      

      p. 
         231 Self-Portrait—Private Collection
      

      
         p. 
         232 Gauguin, Self-Portrait—National Gallery of Art, Washington
      

      p. 
         233 Gauguin, Jottings from Arles Sketchbook—The Israel Museum, Jerusalem
      

      p. 
         239 Gauguin, Painter of Sunflowers—Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
      

      p. 
         243 Portrait of Gauguin—Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam
      

      p. 
         253 Delacroix, Aline, The Mulatto Woman (also known as Aspasie)—Musée Fabre, Montpellier
      

      p. 
         256 Delacroix, Portrait of Alfred Bruyas—Musée Fabre, Montpellier
      

      p. 
         258 Courbet, Meeting—Musée Fabre, Montpellier
      

      p. 
         264 Gauguin, Artist’s Mother—Staatsgalerie, Stuttgart
      

      p. 
         269 La Berceuse—Museum of Fine Arts, Boston
      

      p. 
         291 Gauguin, Self-Portrait Jug—Museum of Decorative Arts, Copenhagen
      

      p. 
         294 Self-Portrait with Bandaged Ear—Courtauld Gallery, London
      

      p. 
         313 Photograph of Yellow House as café—Van Gogh Museum, Amsterdam 
         
      

      [image: art]

   
      
            1. The Arrival

      October 23, 1888

      While it was still dark, shortly after five o’clock in the morning, a train clanked into the station at Arles and a solitary,
         exhausted passenger got out. He had been traveling for nearly two days. His journey had begun the previous Sunday in Pont-Aven,
         near the Atlantic coast of Brittany, almost seven hundred miles away. Since then he had moved by stages from a damp, green
         region on the Atlantic coast to a flat plain near the point where the Rhône River met the Mediterranean.
      

      The route had taken him right across France, via Nantes and Tours, Clermont Ferrand and Lyon. Although he was now in the sunny
         south, the night air was chilly—only 40°F. He stepped out of the station, turned left and walked under the railway bridge,
         then along the street until he came to a large open square. On his right was the embankment of a wide river—the Rhône. To
         the left was the house he was heading for, its shutters still closed. But just at the junction of the street and the square
         there were signs of animation in an all-night café. He opened the door.
      

      It was bright inside because of the lamps hanging from the ceiling. The walls were red, the floorboards bare. Around the sides
         of the room were tables topped with marble; in the center was a big billiard table; and at the back of the room a small bar
         covered with assorted bottles. On the wall above, over the entrance to an inner room, hung a handsome clock, still showing
         not much after five o’clock. The owner looked at the newcomer, then exclaimed, “You’re the pal. I recognize you!”
      

      
         The speaker, Joseph Ginoux, was proprietor of the café—a new establishment that had opened only at the beginning of the year.
         He was talking to an artist with some reputation in the circles of the avant-garde. Ginoux had identified him by means that—even
         in the 1880s—were old-fashioned. Earlier, he had been shown a painted portrait and been told to look out for its subject,
         who would soon be arriving.
      

      Paul Gauguin settled down in the Café de la Gare to wait for dawn. When the sun finally rose, he went out, crossed over to
         number 2 Place Lamartine, whose yellow walls and green-painted woodwork could now be clearly seen, and knocked on the door.
         It was opened by Vincent van Gogh.
      

      Gauguin’s arrival was, it was safe to say, among the most exhilarating but also the most anxious moments of Vincent’s life.
         No sooner had he signed the lease for the Yellow House, almost six months before, than Vincent had started to evolve a plan.
         He didn’t want to live in the house alone; he desperately yearned for company. Right from the start, Gauguin had come to mind
         as the ideal companion. On that very day he had written to his younger brother, Theo, describing the house and floating a
         suggestion: “Perhaps Gauguin would come south?”
      

      The notion rapidly grew into an obsession. From the end of May for the following five months, by letter, Vincent plotted,
         cajoled, argued, pleaded and insisted that Gauguin journey to Arles and join him. He persuaded Theo—who was already supporting
         Vincent himself—to offer the penurious painter a deal: free board and lodging in exchange for pictures provided he agreed
         to live in 2 Place Lamartine, the Yellow House. Theo was working as an art dealer in Paris—one of the few who supported experimental
         painting—so he was in a position to help Gauguin a great deal.
      

      In reply, Gauguin accepted, then—time and again—postponed his departure. A correspondence developed between the 
         two painters, far more intense than their actual, physical acquaintance in Paris the previous winter. Ideas were exchanged
         and adopted, new paintings described. Vincent was euphoric with the hope that Gauguin would soon appear and cast down by the
         fear that he would not.
      

      Recently—since Gauguin’s departure had definitely been announced—Vincent had been consumed by the anxiety that, when the other
         actually arrived, he would not think much of Arles. Gauguin, Vincent feared, would find the area unsatisfactory in comparison
         to Brittany. He might find the scenery lacking in the rich possibilities he had discovered in the north. Instead of joining
         in Vincent’s project and offering his companionship, there was the tormenting possibility that Gauguin would be angry and
         disdainful. Vincent’s nervous tension had reached such a point that he feared he would become ill. Some explosion threatened.
         And now here Gauguin was, actually at the door. He entered.
      

      The two men were a little disconcerted by each other. Both had built up their expectations, based on the evidence of recent
         paintings. In advance of Gauguin’s arrival, Vincent had proposed an exchange of portraits. Gauguin had dispatched one south—the
         picture that had been shown to the café owner, Ginoux—and Vincent had in turn sent a painting of himself north to Brittany.
         But those self-portraits were not simply evidence of how the two men actually looked or who they actually were. One was a
         forty-year-old Frenchman with an estranged family and a background in financial trading, the other a thirty-five-year-old
         Dutchman who had tried his hand at various tasks. Both had come to painting relatively late in life. But the pictures were
         indices of how Gauguin and Van Gogh imagined themselves. Each had presented his image in character, as a figure from literature.
         One thing they had in common was an intense fantasy life in which their own real lives merged with their reading.
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      Paul Gauguin, Self-Portrait “Les Misérables”
      

      In the corner of his picture, Gauguin had painted above his signature the words “Les Misérables”—a reference to the best-known of all French novels, Victor Hugo’s masterpiece. This was an easy clue, as such things go.
         Gauguin meant to present himself as an artistic equivalent to the hero of that novel, Jean Valjean—convicted criminal, outcast,
         martyr and saint. Despite his having written the name of the novel on the picture, Gauguin still doubted whether all the nuances
         of his meaning would be understood.
      

      So, ahead of the arrival of the portrait itself, Vincent had received a letter of explanation from Brittany in which Gauguin
         described the crucial aspects of the self-portrait: “The face of a bandit like Jean Valjean, strong and badly dressed, who
         has a nobleness and gentleness hidden within. Passionate blood suffuses the face as it does a creature in rut, and the eyes
         are enveloped by tones 
         as red as the fire of a forge, which indicate the inspiration like molten lava which fills the soul of painters such as us.”
      

      The yellow wallpaper behind, with its bouquets of flowers, “like that of a young girl’s bedroom,” symbolized—he went on—“our
         artistic virginity.” As he saw it, Jean Valjean—oppressed by society but full of love and power—was just like an Impressionist
         artist of the day.
      

      And so, Gauguin concluded, in giving Valjean his own features, he was also painting a collective portrait of the tiny band
         of rebellious modern painters, who were poverty-stricken for the most part, victims of society. They remained artistically
         as pure as virgins and were victims who responded to suffering—in a Christ-like manner—by doing good. They were creating the
         art of the future.
      

      On reading Gauguin’s description of his self-portrait, Vincent had concluded that the picture must be a masterpiece. But when
         it arrived he found it worryingly dark and sad. It was too close an echo of the anxious, harried feelings he had himself.
      

      Vincent’s self-portrait was even harder to decode. He had written no clue to its meaning on the canvas. He had simply presented
         his head and shoulders—his hair and beard unusually short—against a jade-green background. Of all the self-portraits he painted,
         this was the oddest.
      

      Characteristically, when he described it to Gauguin, it was the color that came first to mind. “I have a portrait of myself,
         all ash-gray,” he had written three weeks before. This effect was the result of mixing emerald green and orange on a pale
         jade background, all harmonized with his reddish-brown clothes—a difficult combination for Vincent, which had given him trouble.
      

      In the flesh of Vincent’s neck and face, delicate strokes of light green and pale rose mingled with the ginger of his hair
         and its reflections. From a distance, these marks of the brush fused into a unity that vibrated with life. The touches of
         paint followed the contours of his face. And those features themselves were gaunt, the cheekbones strongly projecting.
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      Self-Portrait dedicated to Paul Gauguin

      An opalescent green seemed to radiate from the head, forming an icy halo. Vincent’s eyes—yellow-brown, not blue-green as in
         
         his other portraits—were pulled up on either side in catlike fashion, brush strokes radiating around them like lines of magnetic
         force. Their look was elusive. Was it nervous? Or timid? Or determined? It was an enigmatic self-depiction, with a touch of
         the convict or some other kind of institutional inmate about it.
      

      He signed it, as he always did those pictures with which he was particularly pleased, and those he presented as gifts, “Vincent”;
         the signature was later partially erased. Partly because no French tongue could negotiate his surname, and perhaps also partly
         because he felt disconnected from his pious, bourgeois Dutch family, he was always simply Vincent.
      

      Few observers would have guessed the guise that the painter took on in this picture. Vincent had, he wrote to Gauguin, “aimed
         at the character of a simple bonze worshipping the eternal Buddha.” That is, he had painted himself as a Japanese monk. No
         persona, on the face of it, might seem less probable for Vincent, an avant-garde Dutch painter living in the South of France.
         The idea had come from a book—then newly published and widely read—by the best-selling author Pierre Loti: Madame Chrysanthème.

      This book purported to be the memoirs of a French naval officer whose ship was temporarily stationed in Tokyo and who took
         a Japanese mistress in a purely financial arrangement. She became fond of him, and he almost developed a fondness for her;
         then he departed. The story was later to serve as the basis for Puccini’s opera Madame Butterfly.

      Buddhist monks were not the heroes of Madame Chrysanthème; they merely had walk-on parts. They appear in a procession and in a later visit to a monastery. The life of such a Buddhist
         monk, the book revealed, did not exclude a little indulgence. The monks were fond of French liqueurs, and pictures of women.
         But the essential message of Vincent’s self-portrait was that the sitter was leading a calm contemplative life. He was a member
         of a spiritual order, under the discipline of a superior.
      

      
         This was the reverse of the solitary existence that Van Gogh had been experiencing in Arles; it was more the expression of
         a hope: the Yellow House was to be a miniature monastic community dedicated to producing the art of the future. In this monastery
         there had to be an abbot—to “keep order,” as Vincent put it—and that would naturally be Gauguin, with Vincent his humble adherent.
         But in reality, Vincent was not at all the tranquil being he depicted. On the contrary, he was often disquietingly worked
         up.
      

      On actually seeing Gauguin, Vincent was surprised to find that his guest was much healthier-looking than he had anticipated.
         The portrait inscribed “Les Misérables” had created the image of desperation, as had constant complaints in Gauguin’s letters about a debilitating disease—probably
         dysentery—that he had picked up the year before while painting in Martinique. But Gauguin seemed finally to have shaken that
         off.
      

      The impression Gauguin generally made on people was of contained power, both bodily and psychological. Physically, both Gauguin
         and Van Gogh were small, even by the standards of nineteenth-century France. The French navy, in which he had once served,
         recorded Gauguin’s height as a little over five feet four inches, but he thought of himself as long-legged and tall. Archibald
         Standish Hartrick, a Scot who encountered him in Brittany, thought Gauguin “a fine figure of a man.”
      

      Vincent made the opposite impression. At home in Holland he had been called, mockingly, “het schildermanneke” or “the little painter.” A Dutch neighbor remembered him as “squarely built,” but that was not how most others recalled
         Vincent over subsequent years. Hartrick considered him “a rather weedy little man, with pinched features.” One of the staff
         at the hospital at Arles, Dr. Félix Rey, found him a yet more unimpressive specimen—“miserable, wretched… short and thin.”
      

      Although Gauguin was inclined to impress on an initial meeting, not everybody liked him on closer acquaintance. Many in the
         
         small coterie of advanced Parisian painters were suspicious, even hostile. Camille Pissarro, for instance, who had at one
         stage taken Gauguin under his wing, came to think of him as a thief of other artists’ ideas, and the young painter Paul Sérusier
         felt there was something dubious about him, a touch of playacting and also of ruthlessness. “He made you think of a buffoon,
         a troubadour, and a pirate all at once.”
      

      Gauguin’s manner was measured. His voice was somber and husky. He had, a writer named Charles Morice noted, “a large, bony,
         solid face with a narrow forehead.” His mouth was straight and thin-lipped, and he had “heavy eye-lids that opened lazily
         over slightly bulging, bluish eyes that rotated in their sockets to look to the left and right almost without the body or
         the head having to take the trouble to move.”
      

      Vincent, in contrast, was prone to disturbingly fast and jerky movements. Hartrick remembered:

      He had an extraordinary way of pouring out sentences, if he got started, in Dutch, English and French, then glancing back
         at you over his shoulder, and hissing through his teeth. In fact, when thus excited, he looked more than a little mad; at
         other times, he was inclined to be morose, as if suspicious.
      

      Hartrick and his cronies thought him “cracked” but harmless, perhaps not interesting enough to bother much about.

      But some saw redeeming inner qualities in Vincent when they got to know him better. He had found a few friends in Arles that
         year—a soldier, a postal worker and three other painters. But sometimes he went for days without speaking to anyone, and there
         were painful persecutions by the local youths that he did not confess, even to his brother Theo.
      

      Years later, Monsieur Jullian—by then the respectable librarian of Arles—felt guilt for the way he and his teenage friends
         had 
         treated Vincent. They would shout abuse at him as he went past, “alone and silent, in his long smock and wearing one of those
         cheap straw hats you could buy everywhere.” Vincent had decorated his hat with ribbons, “sometimes blue, sometimes yellow.”
         This touching mark of his faith in color was bound to provoke the local youths. Vincent’s habit of “continually stopping and
         peering at things”—natural in a painter—excited the ridicule of his tormenters:
      

      I remember, and I am bitterly ashamed of it now, how I threw cabbage stalks at him! What do you expect? We were young, and
         he was odd, going out to paint in the country, his pipe between his teeth, his big body a bit hunched, a mad look in his eye.
         He always looked as if he were running away, without daring to look at anyone.
      

      Vincent caused no disturbance, M. Jullian recalled, “except when he had been drinking, which happened often.” Looking back,
         the librarian saw that he was “really a gentle person, a creature who would probably have liked us to like him, and we left
         him in his terrifying isolation, the terrible loneliness of genius.”
      

      Adding to Vincent’s general air of eccentric vagrancy was his lack of teeth, ten of them having been extracted in Paris eighteen
         months before and replaced by false ones. Years of rough living had left him looking older than his thirty-five years. (His
         birthday, on March 30, had fallen that year a month after he arrived in Arles.)
      

      Gauguin, too, had had his share of sufferings, including near-destitution at times in the previous few years, and his draining
         tropical disease. But they had not yet destroyed his air of dynamism and strength. Few considered Gauguin other than formidable.
         No one seems to have thought the same of Vincent. His brother Theo was perhaps the only person who believed he might become
         a significant painter.
      

      
         Vincent had been accepted as a colleague and a friend in Paris before he left for Arles by such promising younger artists
         as Paul Signac, Henri de Toulouse-Lautrec and Emile Bernard. But there was no hint that any of them thought he had the potential
         for greatness.
      

      Indeed, on October 23, 1888, neither Gauguin nor Vincent had large reputations in the world of art. They were both members
         of a loose coterie of experimental, mainly youthful painters based in and around Paris. This group was the forerunner of what
         came to be called the avant-garde (though that term was not yet used). These new artists no longer formed a single school,
         as a critic noted a few years later. They reminded him of the geometric patterns of a kaleidoscope, now fusing, now flying
         apart, but all revolving within “the circle of the new art.” They were searching for something beyond Impressionism, the dominant
         radical movement of the older generation. The Impressionists themselves—Monet, Renoir, Pissarro—were now in their late forties
         and fifties.
      

      The embryonic and emerging younger artists exhibited not in the annual Salon, where established, academic painters showed,
         but in less formal shows, some in cafés and on the premises of friendly magazines. Even in this little world, Gauguin and
         Vincent were not the most prominent figures. The leading innovative painter in Paris was the twenty-nine-year-old Georges
         Seurat, who had devised a new method of painting based on dots of pure color.
      

      In comparison, Gauguin was just beginning to establish himself as a force. In the past couple of years he had attracted a
         small following of much more youthful painters, all searching for a new art that did not yet have a name. These disciples
         were on the point of calling him “master.”
      

      Vincent himself had almost no reputation at all. He was known to a circle of fellow painters, Gauguin among them, as an odd
         fellow with intriguing ideas. He had been working as an artist for less 
         than a decade, mostly in isolation, and his work had been seen in public only twice, on both occasions in exhibitions he had
         organized himself in Montmartre drinking-spots.
      

      Nobody, including the painter himself, realized that in Provence Vincent van Gogh was engaged in one of the most astonishing
         creative sprints in Western art. During his year and a bit in Arles, he produced some two hundred paintings—around a third
         of the number Gauguin executed in his entire life—and many of those pictures were masterpieces. Although some had been dispatched
         to Theo in Paris, the bulk of them were there in the Yellow House. The pictures were everywhere—tacked to the walls, hung
         in frames, stacked in storage. There was much to talk about as the sun rose on October 23, 1888, but the most startling novelty
         for Gauguin was those extraordinary paintings. Very few people alive were in such a good position as Gauguin to comprehend
         Vincent’s achievement; and no one had better reasons to admire and assimilate it—or to resist it.
      

      Sun poured in through the south-facing windows of the Yellow House that Tuesday morning, a fine, clear autumn day. The light
         in the front room downstairs, which one stepped into straight from the street, was among the attractions of the place. Vincent
         had chosen it as his studio. So there were his easel, palette and all he needed to paint. The room smelled of his pipe smoke
         as well as of turpentine, pigment and Vincent himself—the climate was hot and washing arrangements limited.
      

      The windows of this work room faced straight out on to the street, so passersby could peer in. But Vincent, at least in his
         more ebullient phases, did not mind being watched while he painted. He felt people might then understand that he was doing
         a real job of work.
      

      The space was permeated by noises as well as odors and the life of the street. While working there one could hear chatter
         outside, 
         mostly in Provençal. Occasionally, a farm wagon or horse-drawn carriage would rattle past. Whenever a train went over the
         bridge just down the Avenue de Montmajour, its chugging was clearly audible. The steam whistles were loud at night.
      

      Gauguin recalled a chaotic untidiness in the studio. “I was shocked,” he wrote. “His box of colors barely sufficed to contain
         all those squeezed tubes, which were never closed up.” In this reaction Gauguin wasn’t alone. Theo had complained that after
         his brother moved into his flat in Paris, the place deteriorated because Vincent was so “dirty and untidy.”
      

      Vincent had been working in the Yellow House since the previous May, although he had only begun living in the building on
         September 16. There had been plenty of time for him to deposit debris all around him, like the active volcano Gauguin compared
         him to.
      

      This domestic confusion was part of the zone of disturbance Vincent created around him—by his manner, the rhythm of his speech,
         his movements, the insistence with which he expressed his views. Despite the disarray, however, there was a pleasant simplicity
         about the house with its white walls, blue doors and floors of local red tile.
      

      The studio, like the other rooms at the front of the Yellow House, was an irregular shape. The walls of the building followed
         the arrangement of the streets outside, which were not at right angles. Although the jaunty little classical structure looked
         foursquare, it was actually askew.
      

      The two long, narrow bedrooms upstairs faced the square. Vincent’s was furnished with a puritanical sobriety—a plain deal
         bed, a couple of chairs, a simple washing stand with hairbrushes and shaving gear, a towel on a hook, a mirror. Six days before
         Gauguin arrived, Vincent had completed a picture of this interior.
      

      One had to pass through Vincent’s to reach Gauguin’s room. It was smaller and had no fireplace but was more opulently appointed,
         
         with a walnut bed, dressing table and matching picture frames. Both rooms looked straight out on to one of the little parks
         in Place Lamartine outside, which had an oval pond in the middle. When the green shutters were open on a fine day such as
         that one, sun poured in. But it was the paintings that were astonishing. Those, Gauguin wrote later, “shone out” from the
         surroundings, indeed, there was hardly any gap between them; the whole room was only 2.7 by 3.7 yards—not much bigger than
         a storage room—and it contained six big canvases. There were four landscapes of the gardens in the Place Lamartine—not as
         they were that fine autumn morning, with the leaves beginning to fall, but as they had been a month before when the greens
         were already starting to turn to gold.
      

      These four pictures were on the side walls of the room, but the paintings that really caught Gauguin’s attention and stayed
         in his mind were at either end, beside the window and above the bedhead.
      

      “In my yellow room,” he wrote six years later, using a little poetic license:

      sunflowers with purple eyes stand out on a yellow background; they bathe their stems in a yellow pot on a yellow table. In
         a corner of the painting, the signature of the painter: Vincent. And the yellow sun that passes through the yellow curtains
         of my room floods all this fluorescence with gold; and in the morning upon awakening from my bed, I imagine that all this
         smells very good.
      

      Gauguin’s description was not exact. There were actually two sunflower paintings in the bedroom, and only one of the pictures
         was yellow on yellow; the other had a turquoise backdrop. But both were crackling with electricity in a way that no floral
         paintings had ever done before.
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      Sunflowers

      Vincent had arranged the decoration and furnishing of the Yellow House after long and careful thought. On first arriving in
         Arles at the end of February he had taken a room at the Hôtel-Restaurant Carrel in the Rue de la Cavalerie, just inside the
         medieval gate of the city before Place Lamartine. He paid five francs a week for the 
         room. Later, that was reduced to four—but he still felt he was being overcharged. He didn’t like the food, which he also thought
         expensive (Vincent tended to be strange about eating and suffered from pains in his stomach).
      

      Often, walking out of town towards Montmajour, Vincent had passed the Yellow House, standing in the sun on the corner of the
         square. Eventually, on May 1, he signed a five-month lease for the empty right-hand part of the building.
      

      If he couldn’t yet live in the unfurnished rooms of the Yellow House, at least he could soon use it as a studio. Six days
         later—the dispute about overcharging at the Hôtel-Restaurant Carrel having grown acrimonious—he moved to the Café de la Gare
         along the street, where he slept and ate from then on. He became a member of the little community of Place Lamartine.
      

      Hardly had Vincent rented the Yellow House—for fifteen francs a month—than he began to think about furnishing and equipping
         it. The building had been shut up and uninhabited for a long time and was in poor condition. Vincent, despite his disheveled
         appearance, had pronounced nest-building tendencies. In Paris, where he had shared a flat with his brother Theo, he had filled
         it with carefully selected objects. When later his sister-in-law was shown the apartment, every vase or ornament she praised
         turned out to be something that Vincent had found and thought pretty.
      

      But what Vincent thought pretty—just like his own paintings—was much rougher and simpler than what most people liked. “What
         a mistake,” he exclaimed, “Parisians make in not having a palate for crude things.” He loved “common earthenware,” for example,
         and often posed his flower subjects in vases made of it. Early in May, out of his limited allowance—all provided by Theo—he
         bought two chairs, a table and “things for making a little coffee and soup at home.”
      

      These starred in a new painting:

      
         a still life of a blue enameled iron coffee-pot, a royal blue cup and saucer, a milk jug with pale cobalt and white checks,
         a cup with orange and blue patterns on a white ground, a blue majolica jug decorated with green, brown and pink flowers and
         leaves.
      

      Although he still had no furnishings or beds, Vincent bought table linen for the house, selecting a hard-wearing variety.

      On May 27 Vincent agreed to contribute towards the costs of having his half of the building repainted, inside and out. He
         paid his half of the bill—ten francs—on June 10. From that point, the Yellow House, previously dilapidated, became visibly
         much fresher and brighter than the twin, left-hand side of the structure, occupied by a grocer’s shop.
      

      The outside walls were the fresh, almost edible color of butter. The shutters were vivid green, the doors inside a soothing
         blue. There, in and on the house, were the major notes in the color scale—yellow, green, blue and the rich red of the studio
         floor. The ground-floor front room became Vincent’s studio. The studio and its furniture took on roles in his pictures. The
         strength of the colors suited his mood that summer.
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      Sketch of Still Life with Coffeepot
      

      
         Just before Gauguin arrived Vincent had gaslight installed in the studio and kitchen at a cost of twenty-five francs. He planned
         to paint portraits indoors at night, just as he had recently painted after dark in the central square and beside the Rhône,
         the glow of the streetlight eked out by candles on his hat.
      

      It was not until September that Vincent could afford to furnish the two bedrooms upstairs. On Saturday, September 8, advised
         by his friend, the postal supervisor at the station, Joseph Roulin, and his wife, he bought two beds. Vincent selected a simple
         one made of white deal for his room and a more luxurious walnut one for the guest room—with luck to be occupied by Gauguin.
         They were big double beds in the local style, not iron bedsteads. This gave them, Vincent felt, “an air of solidity, permanence
         and calm.”
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      The Yellow House

      
         He also bought two mattresses and—because the beds came to 150 francs and his money was running short—sheets and blankets
         for only one. That same day he bought a mirror—because he had the self-portrait in mind—a few bits and pieces and twelve chairs.
         The latter figure, however, might have been just in Vincent’s mind; he thought he painted twelve sunflowers, though that was
         not the real amount. He was apt to be absent-minded about factual details. He wrote Rue de Laval on an envelope instead of
         Rue de Lepic, which was Theo’s correct address, presumably because he had been thinking about Charles Laval, a painter friend
         of Gauguin’s. Describing the yellow of the sun that burned in the sky above his house, Vincent accidentally wrote “souffre”
         not “soufre”—not “sulfur” but “suffer”—perhaps an insignificant slip. Twelve was a suitably apostolic number for gatherings
         connected with the Yellow House.
      

      On that Saturday Vincent had received a generous 300 francs enclosed in a letter from Theo. By Sunday only fifty remained,
         but the house was almost ready. A few days before, he had been feeling despondent and ill; now, suddenly, he felt a rush of
         confidence and energy.
      

      For three nights, he sat painting in the Café de la Gare—to the entertainment of Ginoux and the other habitués, who included
         local streetwalkers and their clients. This was a room in which Vincent had spent many evenings—reading, writing letters,
         thinking, talking, drinking—amid the prostitutes and the drunks who snoozed on the little tables. His picture, he wrote, was
         intended to “express the terrible passions of humanity.”
      

      “I have tried to express the idea that the café is a place where one can ruin oneself, go mad or commit a crime.” Someone
         who saw the Night Café, Vincent reflected, would conclude that its painter had full-blown delirium tremens—and it was true that Vincent’s consumption
         of drink was sometimes out of control.
      

      Vincent was always reading newspapers, magazines and novels. Another painting from that year was a portrait of his books,
         piled up on the table-top, some open, some closed. Most of them were yellow-covered paperback editions of his favorite modern
         authors, men such as Gustave Flaubert, the brothers Goncourt, Alphonse Daudet, Guy de Maupassant and, above all, Emile Zola.
         When he looked around in Arles, the works of these men came back to him. The Café de la Gare no doubt reminded him of Zola’s
         novel L’Assommoir, about the degradation, derangement and death brought on by drink.
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      Night Café

      As soon as Vincent had bought the bedroom furniture, his mind was racing with ideas for the poky, rented, skewed four rooms
         on Place Lamartine. “I have it all planned,” he wrote on the evening of September 9, excited by his purchases, and sitting
         in the Café de la Gare. “I really do want to make it—an artist’s house, but not affected, 
         on the contrary, nothing affected, but everything from the chairs to the pictures full of character.”
      

      The notion of a house for an artist was in the air. Edmond de Goncourt, the survivor of the two brothers, had published a
         deluxe, two-volume account of his own dwelling in Paris. But in the Yellow House—quite different from de Goncourt’s luxurious
         house—everything was to be simple. That was an ideal as well as a matter of necessity. The rush-bottomed chairs, for example,
         were just the same as the ones Vincent sat on when he took his dinner in the Restaurant Venissat, next door to the Café de
         la Gare. They were ordinary, unpretentious Arles chairs. But that kind of simplicity—apart from its being unavoidable for
         reasons of cost—pleased Vincent. It spoke to him of monastic life and of the spare interiors in Japanese dwellings (the bonzes
         in Madame Chrysanthème lived among plain yellow walls and unframed pictures).
      

      His new home, Vincent decided, would be an artist’s house in the most direct way—by being filled with his art. His pictures
         would form a décoration for the walls. By that, he meant not just that they would be decorative, but that they would evoke multiple meanings and
         emotions—amounting to his whole world—through their contrasting colors and subjects. Some paintings depicted the immediate
         neighborhood—the parks outside, the banks of the Rhône, the Café de la Gare—all of which reminded him of Zola and the artist
         Honoré Daumier, whose lithographs also hung on the walls of the Yellow House, in company with Japanese prints and Vincent’s
         pictures. Other paintings portrayed Vincent’s friends. The décoration was a fitting backdrop to Vincent’s most ambitious plan: the Yellow House would be home to a miniature community. Most often,
         Gauguin was Vincent’s imagined housemate, but there were other possibilities. Perhaps Emile Bernard would come. Then there
         was Charles Laval, the friend of Gauguin’s who had shared in his intrepid painting adventure to Martinique.
      

      
         In Vincent’s mind, the Yellow House expanded. There were two other tiny compartments, cupboards really, on the upper floor.
         Surely it would be possible to fit everybody in? Another visitor might be his brother Theo, coming down from Paris to recuperate
         from ill health and the exhaustion of his art-dealing life.
      

      The Yellow House would house an artists’ colony. That, of course, was not a new idea. Northern Europe, especially the cheaper
         coastal fringes, was strewn with the rookeries of bohemian painters. But to found such a group in the remote Midi, land of
         blazing sun and brilliant color—that was absolutely new, and Vincent’s own idea. His would be a studio of the South, a band of brother artists whose work was so unknown it did not even have a proper name. Vincent called them the “painters
         of the Petit Boulevard” after their Parisian haunt, the Boulevard de Clichy, rather than the smart Boulevard Montmartre. Some
         were painters who used simplified shapes and colors in the manner of the Japanese prints that were then so fashionable and
         widely collected among the up-to-date—including Vincent.
      

      It seemed obvious to him that the artists of the Petit Boulevard should work in the bright, clear light of the south, which
         was, he imagined, exactly like that of Japan. He and the others would live and paint together—different in individual style
         but sharing a common aim, exchanging ideas, commenting on each other’s work just as Vincent, Bernard and Gauguin now did by
         letter. However, to coax his friends to Arles seemed an impossible task. There were moments at which Vincent wondered whether
         it might be easier for him to migrate to Pont-Aven.
      

      The Paris-Lyon-Mediterranée Railway, or PLM, was Vincent’s means of contact with the outside world. Its trains carried his
         mail to the north, where his brother and artist friends lived, and their mail back to him in the south. (In cases of dire
         emergency, there was also the telegram.) Letters were picked up at regular intervals, from five in the morning until ten at
         night. And there were four 
         postal deliveries a day, so Vincent and his circle could transmit ideas and information to each other with some rapidity.
         The only aspect difficult to convey by mail—and a vital matter to Vincent and his fellow painters—was color, which was why
         their letters were full of detailed descriptions of pictures, shade by shade, hue by hue, and their drawings were carefully
         labeled “bleu,” “orange,” “violet” or “vert.”
      

      In the month after he moved into the Yellow House, Vincent worked furiously. During the warmth of mid September, he painted
         day after day in the public gardens of Place Lamartine and, as he did so, a chain of extravagant associations formed in his
         mind. He had read an article about the medieval Italian writer Boccaccio in a magazine. Soon, it struck him that he was like
         Boccaccio, and Gauguin resembled Boccaccio’s wise and noble friend, the poet Petrarch. These little parks were Provençal gardens
         of love, especially the one in the corner nearest the brothel district, which filled him with erotic thoughts. Gauguin would
         be the new poet of the South! Together, they would make a new Renaissance.
      

      During the second week of October alone, Vincent painted five large pictures, then felt completely exhausted; his eyes were
         so tired he could scarcely see properly. On the night of Saturday, October 13, he slept for sixteen hours at one stretch in
         his new bed. A violent mistral was blowing, whipping up clouds of dust and keeping him indoors. He had had, as he put it,
         a “queer turn”: some sort of attack or collapse.
      

      It gave him the idea for a new picture. “This time,” he wrote, the subject was simply his bedroom—the color alone made it
         seem simple and grand and suggestive “of rest or of sleep in general.” But, actually, the picture did not give an entirely tranquil impression. That was partly due not
         to Vincent, who painted what was before his eyes, but to the architecture of the Yellow House. The end wall of the room was
         not at right angles to the sides but 
         slanting. The rushing perspective of the room, however, was Vincent’s. And, more than rest and repose, the painting suggested
         furniture and fittings hurtling along under the impact of some tremendous force.
      

      Vincent feared, not for the first time, that he was going mad. He needed to eat more regularly, he felt, and paint less for
         a few days; otherwise, he might become “ill.” He confided to Theo that if he did go mad it would not take the form of persecution
         mania, which rather suggested that he had wondered whether it might. It was at this point, on the day that he finished the
         Bedroom—Wednesday the seventeenth—that Gauguin, after delaying so many months, announced his imminent departure from Brittany.
      

      The obstacles to his leaving had suddenly cleared. Theo had sold some of his ceramics, so Gauguin could pay off a proportion
         of his debts for food, lodgings and medicine (he was surprisingly punctilious about that sort of thing). His illness—which
         had been causing painful stomach cramps and discharges of blood into his chamber pot—had cleared up. He had already sent his
         trunk containing his fencing gear and heavier possessions. He himself would soon follow.
      

      Writing to his friend Emil Schuffenecker, Gauguin expressed his satisfaction at the way things were going. “However fond of
         me Van Gogh may be he isn’t falling over himself to send me to the Midi board and lodging paid just for my fine blue eyes.”
         To Gauguin, Theo was always “Van Gogh,” and Vincent was just Vincent. He saw the former as a “cool Dutchman” who had studied
         the art market and concluded that he, Gauguin, was the coming man. Finally, everything was going his way. “You know well that
         in art I am always fundamentally right. Mark this well, at the moment among artists a wind is blowing which is most decidedly favorable to me.”
      

      Gauguin was even enthusiastic about the South. He had written a little poem in one of his recent letters to Vincent, an ode
         to the 
         sun of the Midi. It began, “Oh chrome God!” and continued through multiple crossings-out. Poetry was not Gauguin’s métier.
      

      So they were in very different states of mind, the two men who met that morning in the Yellow House, one full of renewed health
         and confidence, the other teetering on the edge of derangement. They had a lot of talking to do. After a while they went out,
         so that Gauguin—who had walked only the few yards from the station to Place Lamartine, and in the dark at that—could take
         a look at the town of Arles.
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